RECEIVED

06-12-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2015AP000421-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

JOSHUA ALLAN VITEK,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in St. Croix County Circuit Court, Judge Eric J. Lundell, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JEFREN E. OLSEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1012235

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8387 olsenj@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did police have reasonable suspicion to stop the car Joshua Vitek was driving based on information that the operating privileges of one of the multiple owners of the car were suspended?

The circuit court answered "Yes." (32:3-4; App. 125-26).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issue presented can be fully presented in briefing, so Joshua Vitek does not request oral argument. Publication is not appropriate because this is a one-judge appeal. Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2)(d) and (3) and § (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1:30 Around 26, 2013, a.m. on August Officer Hilary Lundberg of the Hudson Police Department was parked on Hanley Road in Hudson and was "running radar" on passing traffic. (9:6-7; App. 107-08). She decided to conduct a "warrant check" on the license plate of a white car driving by, though the car was not violating any traffic laws. (9:7, 12; App. 108, 113). The purpose of a warrant check is to see who the car belongs to, whether it has been reported stolen, and whether anyone "related" to the vehicle has any outstanding warrants. (9:12-13; App. 113-14).

The warrant check in this case showed the car was not stolen and found no warrants associated with the car. (9:13; App. 114). However, it revealed that one of the registered

owners of the car had suspended operating privileges. (9:7, 13; App. 108, 114). The owner with the suspended privileges was a male, but it was too dark for Officer Lundberg to see who was driving the car, so she could not determine whether the driver was male or female. (9:7, 13; App. 108, 114). She then "initiated a traffic stop to determine who was driving at that point." (9:7 App. 108). In particular, she "stopped [the car] to see if one of the registered owners -- or one of the registered owners who's suspended was driving...." (9:13; App. 114).

The driver was Joshua Vitek. (9:7-8; App. 108-09). Officer Lundberg noticed an odor of alcohol while speaking with Vitek and based on further investigation she ultimately arrested him for operating while intoxicated. (9:8-13; App. 109-13). Vitek was charged with operating while intoxicated, second offense, and misdemeanor bail jumping. (1:1-2). An amended complaint added a charge of operating with a prohibited alcohol content. (5:2).

Vitek moved to suppress the evidence collected as a result of the stop, arguing that Lundberg did not have reasonable suspicion to justify the stop because she did not know that the driver was the owner with suspended driving privileges. (4:5; 9:4, 15-16; 24:4-5; App. 102-04, 105, 116-17).

After a hearing on the motion (9; App. 105-19) the state filed a brief arguing the stop was lawful under *State v. Newer*, 2007 WI App 236, 306 Wis. 2d 193, 742 N.W.2d 923. (7; App. 120-21). *Newer* held that an officer's knowledge that a vehicle owner's license is revoked will support reasonable suspicion for a traffic stop, so long as the officer is unaware of any facts that would suggest that the owner is *not* driving. *Id.*, ¶2. In response Vitek argued *Newer*

did not apply here because there is more than one owner of the car and the officer could only have a "hunch" that the suspended owner was the person behind the wheel. (10; App. 122-24).

The circuit court denied the motion. The court found that "[o]ne of the registered owners was in suspended status" and "[f]or that reason only, that reason alone, if I recall, the defendant was stopped." (32:3; App. 125). Without detailing its reasons, the circuit court concluded that "the Courts will eventually find that that is a sufficient reason for a stop." (32:3; App. 125).

Vitek thereafter reached a plea agreement that disposed of the charges in this case and two other operating while intoxicated cases, one of which occurred before the incident in this case, the other of which happened after the incident in this case. (11). In this case he pleaded guilty to an amended charge of operating while intoxicated, third offense; the bail jumping and prohibited alcohol charges were dismissed. (12; 13:1; 27:10-12). He was sentenced to serve time in the county jail and to pay a fine and fees, and the circuit court stayed the jail sentence pending appeal. (15; 17; 26:9-12, 27-28, 30-32).

Vitek appeals the denial of his motion to suppress under Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

ARGUMENT

Police Did Not Have Reasonable Suspicion to Stop the Car Joshua Vitek was Driving Based on Information that the Operating Privileges of One of the Multiple Owners of the Car Were Suspended.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution both guarantee freedom from unreasonable searches and seizures. A temporary detention during a traffic stop, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a "seizure" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 11. *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App. 1996).

An automobile stop must be reasonable under all the circumstances. *Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d at 605; *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶22, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. A traffic stop is generally reasonable if police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred or have grounds to reasonably suspect a violation has been or will be committed. *Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d at 605.

Whether a temporary detention complies with the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 11 is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶10, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. An appellate court upholds the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but applies the constitutional standards to those facts without deference. *Id.*

As noted above, to justify the stop of the car Vitek was driving the state relied on *State v. Newer*, 2007 WI App 236,

306 Wis. 2d 193, 742 N.W.2d 923. In *Newer* this court held that a police officer can make a common sense assumption that the registered owner of a vehicle is likely to also be its driver; thus, if the owner's license is suspended or revoked, the officer has reasonable suspicion for a traffic stop. *Id.*, ¶¶2, 7, 9. As the court noted, "it is not, of course, an infallibly true assumption [that the owner will be driving], but that is not what is required for reasonable suspicion." *Id.*, ¶7. Reasonable suspicion does not require absolute certainty; "sufficient probability, not certainty, is the touchstone of reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment" *Hill v. California*, 401 U.S. 797, 804 (1971).

In reaching its holding *Newer* relied on cases from other jurisdictions that have come to the same conclusion. Newer, 306 Wis. 2d 193, ¶¶2, 5 (citing State v. Pike, 551 N.W.2d 919 (Minn. 1996), and *Village of Lake in the* Hills v. Llovd, 591 N.E.2d 524 (Ill. Ct. App. 1992), as representative cases). As one recent decision formulates the rule adopted by the majority of courts, an officer has reasonable suspicion to initiate a stop when: (1) the officer knows that the registered owner of a vehicle has a suspended license; and (2) the officer is unaware of any evidence or circumstances which indicate that the owner is not the driver of the vehicle. Armfield v. State, 918 N.E.2d 316, 321 (Ind. 2009) (collecting cases). See also State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775, 781-83 (Iowa 2010) (recognizing majority rule and collecting cases); State v. Hess, 648 S.E.2d 913, 916 (N.C. Ct. App. 2007) ("our research reveals that when an officer knows that a vehicle being operated is registered to an owner with a suspended or revoked driver's license, the majority of jurisdictions have held that an officer has reasonable suspicion to make an investigatory stop, absent evidence that the driver is not the owner").

Consistent with this rule, and with the requirement that the reasonable suspicion inquiry consider the totality of the circumstances, *Newer* noted that additional information might invalidate the common sense assumption that the driver is the owner:

If an officer comes upon information suggesting that the assumption is not valid in a particular case, for example that the vehicle's driver appears to be much older, much younger, or of a different gender than the vehicle's registered owner, reasonable suspicion would, of course, dissipate. There would simply be no reason to think that the nonowner driver had a revoked license.

Id., ¶8 (emphasis added). *See also id.*, ¶5 (quoting *Pike*, 551 N.W.2d at 922 (inference that owner is driving "applies only while the officer remains unaware of any facts which would render unreasonable the assumption that the owner is driving the vehicle").

What sort of evidence or circumstances will make it unreasonable for police to assume the owner is driving the car? The above quotation from *Newer* notes some obvious examples—for instance, when the officer has information that the vehicle's driver appears to be much older or much younger or is a different gender than the vehicle's registered owner. Because Officer Lundberg could not see the driver of the white car, these observations did not make it unreasonable for her assume an owner was driving.

But the officer's observations about the person who is actually driving the vehicle are not the only kind of information that can make it unreasonable to assume the owner is the driver, for this case shows another kind: Information that there is more than one registered owner.

While it is reasonable to assume that a vehicle owned by one person is likely being driven by that one person, when there is *more* than one registered owner of a vehicle there is no *a priori* basis for concluding the one *particular* owner is probably driving. Instead, all known information about the owners being equal, it is equally probable that any one of the owners might be driving. That means an inference that a particular owner is driving is nothing more than a guess. The fact there are multiple owners dissolves the nexus between owner and driver that supports the ordinarily reasonable assumption that *the* owner is *the* driver.

Furthermore, as one court has rightly concluded, the fact that one of the owners has revoked or suspended operating privileges makes it *less* probable that that owner will be driving. *State v. Galvez*, 930 N.E.2d 473 (Ill. Ct. App. 2010). While some vehicle owners will drive as much after a suspension or revocation as they did before, many if not most will either stop driving or, at least, decrease their driving. As the court explained:

If one of two co-owners of a vehicle reduces his or her driving, the relative likelihood that he or she is the driver—at any particular moment when the vehicle is in operation—also decreases. In addition, if the co-owner whose license has been suspended or revoked drives less, the other co-owner may have the use of the vehicle more often. In that case, the odds will be even longer against finding the owner whose license has been suspended or revoked behind the wheel.

Id. at 475.

The reasoning of *Galvez* is particularly persuasive and applicable to this case, for two reasons. First, the facts are very similar. Galvez was pulled over after an officer ran a registration check, learned the vehicle had two co-owners—

one male, one female—and determined the male was suspended. The officer stopped the car without first determining whether the driver was male or female. *Id.* at 474. Second, the state argued the stop was valid based on *Lloyd*, 591 N.E.2d 524—a decision relied on in *Newer*, 306 Wis. 2d 193, ¶¶5-6—and *Galvez* rejected the claim that *Lloyd* justified the stop. *Galvez*, 930 N.E.2d at 475.

In particular, the state argued that because *dicta* in *Lloyd* said it was "equally reasonable" that one co-owner or another may be driving, it is reasonable for police to stop a car when one of the owners has a suspended license and the officer is unable to *exclude* the validly licensed owner as a possible driver. But as the *Galvez* court explained, by contending it is equally probable the suspended or revoked owner is driving,

...the State's argument essentially turns the "reasonable suspicion" standard on its head by starting with the assumption that defendant is likely to have committed a criminal act and working backward from that assumption to glean suspicion from otherwise innocuous circumstances. Perhaps the starting assumption would be permissible if there were empirical evidence to support it—evidence that, on the whole, drivers with revoked or suspended licenses routinely ignore the restrictions on their driving privileges. Here, however, the officer did not claim that he acted on the basis of such evidence or that he was familiar with defendant's individual driving habits. Simply put, the stop was based on nothing more than a guess that defendant was a scofflaw and that there was a good chance that he was behind the wheel.

Id. at 475-76.

In this case, then, the fact that the white car had more than one registered owner means there is no automatic nexus between the one owner of the vehicle who had a suspended license and the driver of the car at the time it was stopped. Thus, it was not reasonable to infer that it was probably the suspended owner who was driving rather than an owner who was not suspended.

For a decision to stop a car with multiple owners to be based on a reasonable inference rather than just a guess, the officer must have some additional information to support the inference that one owner is more (or less) likely to be driving on a particular occasion. For instance, if the officer knows a vehicle has two owners, one male and one female, and that the male owner is suspended, seeing a male driving the car would support the stop because, based on the rule adopted in *Newer*, the officer could reasonably infer that the suspended male owner was driving. Cf. Galvez, 930 N.E.2d at 474, 476. Or perhaps the officer has experience with or knowledge of the driving habits of the owners. For example, it was reasonable for an officer to conclude that a woman who co-owned a vehicle with her estranged husband was the primary driver of the vehicle, and thus was driving the vehicle on a particular occasion, because the officer had stopped the vehicle twice in the previous two months and both times the woman was either driving the vehicle or was an occupant. See State v. Hamic, 129 P.3d 114, 119-20 (Kan. Ct. App. 2006).

In this case Officer Lundberg did not point to any other information that provided an articulable suspicion that at the time of the stop the white care was being driven by the one owner who had a suspended license. At most she knew the owner with the suspended privileges was male, but that did not matter here because she could not see if a male was driving; indeed, she stopped the car solely to see if the driver was the suspended owner. (9:7, 13; App. 108, 114).

Because the rule adopted in *Newer* does not apply when a car has multiple owners (unless, of course, all of the registered owners have suspended or revoked driving privileges), and because Officer Lundberg had no factual basis on which to infer that the driver of the white car was the suspended owner rather than an owner who was not suspended, the officer could not reasonably conclude the driver of the white car was likely the one owner whose license was suspended. Her decision to stop the car was not founded on a reasonable inference from an articulable fact. It was, instead, a guess.* A good guess, as it happened, but still a guess. Officer Lundberg had a fifty percent chance of being right and a fifty percent chance of being wrong, assuming there were two registered owners, and her chance of being right was less than fifty percent if there were more than two owners (she did not recall how many registered owners there were, but knew only one of them had suspended operating privileges. (9:7; App. 108)). That is not a "sufficient probability" to establish reasonable suspicion. Hill, 401 U.S. at 804. Therefore, the stop of Vitek was unlawful and the evidence obtained as a result must be suppressed.

^{*}Cf. State v. Leveck, 962 N.E.2d 316 (Ohio Ct. App. 2011), where police knew that Burns, who owned a car and had valid driving privileges, sometimes lent his vehicle to Pitsick, whose license was suspended. An officer saw the car being driven by someone who matched the description of both men and stopped the car to see which one was driving. Id. at 318, 320-21. The officer's observations meant it was essentially a guess as to whether the car was being driven unlawfully by Pitsick or lawfully by Burns, and given of the common-sense inference that the owner is the driver, the more reasonable conclusion was that Burns was driving. Since there was no reason to suspect Burns of unlawful activity, the stop was invalid. Id. at 321.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons given above, the circuit court's order denying Joshua Vitek's motion to suppress should be reversed and the case should be remanded for further proceedings.