## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT 3

# RECEIVED

### 07-14-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP000421-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

#### JOSHUA ALLEN VITEK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF A DENIAL OF MOTION TO SUPPRESS ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ST. CROIX COUNTY, HON. JUDGE ERIC J. LUNDELL, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

Michael Nieskes State Bar No. 1002564

Ryan Moertel Certified Law Student

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Office of the District Attorney St. Croix County Government Center 1101 Carmichael Rd, Hudson, WI 54016

## **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

1. Does an officer have reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop when they are aware that one of the vehicle's registered owners has a suspended driver's license?

The circuit court answered "Yes." (32:3-4).

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The parties' briefs will adequately address the issue presented, and oral argument will not significantly assist the court in deciding this appeal.

Publication is not warranted as the issues raised on appeal are controlled by existing precedent.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 26, 2013, Officer Hilary Lundberg was on patrol in the City of Hudson, St. Croix County, Wisconsin. (9:6-7). At around 1:24 a.m. Officer Lundberg was running radar on passing traffic from a stationary position on Hanley Road. (9:6-7). From her position Officer Lundberg observed a white car passing by, and ran a "warrant check" on the license plate of the vehicle. (9:7).

The warrant check revealed that there was more than one registered owner, and that one of the owners was a male whose driver's license was suspended. (9:7). It was early in the morning and dark, so Officer Lundberg was unable to see if the driver was male or female. (9:7). Given the information that was available to her at the time, Officer Lundberg conducted a traffic stop to investigate whether the person driving the vehicle had a valid driver's license. (9:7).

The driver of the vehicle was, in fact, a male who was identified as Joshua Vitek (Hereafter "the Defendant"). (9:7-8). While speaking with him, Officer Lundberg noticed a strong odor of intoxicants. (9:8). Officer Lundberg asked the Defendant about the odor, and he stated that he drank a twelve pack of Redd's Apple Cider earlier that evening. (9:8). After further investigation through Standardized Field

Sobriety Testing and a Preliminary Breath Test, the Defendant was placed under arrest for Operating While Intoxicated. (9:11).

Following his arrest, the Defendant was charged with Operating While Intoxicated, second offense, and Misdemeanor Bail Jumping. (1:1-2). An amended complaint added the charge of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. (5:2).

The Defendant then moved to suppress all evidence that was collected as a result of the stop based upon a lack of reasonable suspicion to stop the defendant's vehicle. (24:4). The basis being, that since there was more than one registered owner of the vehicle, Officer Lundberg could not have known that the driver of the vehicle had a suspended operating privilege. (24:4).

After an evidentiary motion hearing and written briefings from both the Defendant and the State, the circuit court denied the motion. (32:3). After which, the Defendant pleaded guilty to an amended charge of Operating While Intoxicated, third offense. (12)

#### **ARGUMENT**

Officer Lundberg Had Reasonable Suspicion to Stop the Defendant's Vehicle Because One of the Registered Owners Had Suspended Operating Privileges, and She Had No Information Excluding Either Owner as the Current Driver.

The Defendant argues in his brief in chief that Officer Lundberg did not have reasonable suspicion to stop his vehicle because there was more than one registered owner of the vehicle, only one of whom had a suspended driver's license. Def.'s Br. 8-9. Therefore, the defendant claims, the stop could not have been based on anything more than a guess. Def.'s Br. 10. "A good guess, as it happened, but still a guess." Def.'s Brief: 10.

#### A. Standard of Review

The question of whether a traffic stop is reasonable is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. A question of constitutional fact is a mixed question of law and fact to which this Court must apply a two-step standard of review. *State v. Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶ 16, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552. This Court should review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard, and review independently the application of those facts to Constitutional principles. *Id.*; *State v. Payano-Roman*, 2006 WI 47, ¶ 16, 290 Wis. 2d 380, 714 N.W.2d 548.

# B. There Was Reasonable Suspicion To Stop the Defendant's Vehicle.

Officer Lundberg's stop was based upon more than a guess, and she did, in fact, have reasonable suspicion to stop the Defendant's vehicle because "knowledge that a vehicle's owner's license is revoked will support reasonable suspicion for a traffic stop so long as the officer remains unaware of any facts that would suggest that the owner is not driving." *State v. Newer*, 2007 WI App 236, ¶ 2, 306 Wis. 2d 193, 742 N.W.2d 923. The *Newer* court also noted that it is reasonable to assume that the person driving a vehicle is that vehicle's owner. *Newer*, 306 Wis. 2d at ¶ 7. It is not an infallibly true assumption, but that is not required for reasonable suspicion. *Id.* On the contrary, "the suspicion necessary to justify an investigatory stop is considerably less than proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence" *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 59, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729.

While *Newer* involved a defendant whose driver's license was revoked, its reasoning should still apply here, where the Defendant's driver's license was suspended. In Wisconsin, the only differences between a license being revoked and a license being suspended are the penalties and the requirements to reinstate driving privileges. Both revocation and suspension of one's driving privilege make it illegal to operate a motor vehicle on public roadways. Consequently, there is no reason to distinguish between them for purposes of a *Newer* analysis of the stop's reasonableness, and the Defendant does not assert otherwise. Def. Br. 5.

In this case, Officer Lundberg testified that she was running radar and observed the defendant's vehicle at around 1:24 a.m. (9:6). "The hour of the day may... be relevant in that the individual's activities may or may not be consistent with the typical behavior of law-abiding citizens at that time." *State v. Kyles*, 2004 WI 15, ¶ 58, 269 Wis. 2d 1, 675 N.W.2d 449. In this case, the hour of the day is relevant to the totality of the circumstances due to the prevalence of drunk driving cases that occur in the early morning and Officer Lundberg's inability to identify the sex of the driver prior to the stop due to the darkness. Based upon those factors Officer Lundberg had reasonable suspicion for the limited intrusion of a traffic stop to investigate further.

As noted above, it has been well established in Wisconsin that if police become aware that the registered owner of a vehicle has a revoked license they are justified in conducting an investigatory traffic stop based upon that alone. *Newer*, 306 Wis. 2d. at ¶ 2. The Defendant now asserts with no precedential authority that if there is more than one registered owner, that justification is in some way diminished. Def.'s Br. 6.

As support for his contention, the Defendant relies almost exclusively on *State v. Galvez,* 930 N.E.2d 473 (Ill. Ct. App.). Def.'s Br. 7-9. This case is from the Illinois Court of Appeals, a foreign jurisdiction, and serves as nothing more than persuasive authority. Additionally, it is the only case in the country that, the State's research has revealed, creates any distinction between stopping a car with a single registered owner and one with multiple registered owners when a registered owner has suspended operating privileges.

The Galvez court argued that when a vehicle has more than one registered owner, one of whom has suspended operating privileges, it is more likely that the owner with the active license is driving. *Id.* at 475. However, it was unable to cite any authority for its conclusion. Instead it simply stated that the conclusion of an earlier court that it is equally likely that either registered owner could be operating "is one that common sense suggests is most likely incorrect." Id. This conclusion is based upon that court's belief that the assumption should be that people generally follow the law. However, it does not consider the fact that people who generally follow the law do not generally have suspended operating privileges. Thus, the Galvez court's assertion is flawed because it is made in a vacuum where no other circumstances are considered even though the reasonable suspicion standard considers the totality of the circumstances. *Kyles*, 269 Wis. 2d at  $\P$  49. Based upon this fundamental flaw, this Court should decline to adopt the Galvez approach to determinations of reasonable suspicion.

Under the totality of the circumstances, Officer Lundberg had reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop given: (1) the late hour, (2) Her knowledge that a registered owner had a suspended driver's license, and (3) her lack of information indicating which owner was driving. Based upon the totality of those circumstances Officer Lundberg had reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop because it was just as likely that the registered owner whose license was suspended was driving as the other registered owner.

Reasonable suspicion is a lower standard than proof by a preponderance of the evidence. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d at ¶ 59. Proof by a preponderance of the evidence requires only that it be more likely than not that the fact is true. Therefore, a showing that there is at least a fifty percent chance that the driver of the vehicle had a suspended driver's license is more than enough to find reasonable suspicion for an investigatory traffic stop. Thus, the circuit court's decision to deny the Defendant's motion was in accordance with Constitutional principles, and this Court should affirm its decision.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated, the State respectfully requests that the this Court affirm the circuit court's ruling.